PETITIONER JOHNSON'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Bill A. Corbin, Esq. 305 Fannin Avenue Blountstown, FL 32424 904/674-5424 Attorney for Petitioner Johnson

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A Judgment was entered against Appellant/Petitioner Johnson in the County Court of Gadsden County. He filed his Motion for Relief from Judgment, which was denied. He appealed that denial to the Circuit Court acting in its appellate capacity. The Circuit Court entered its Order dated and filed September 24, 1987, which affirmed the County Court. It was recorded on October 1 in the Official Records Books.

On October 21 Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal with the Clerk of the Circuit Court (App. 1; R 1), appealing the Circuit Court's Order to the First District Court of Appeal. All filing fees were paid at that time. However, the Circuit Court Clerk failed to promptly forward a copy of the Notice to the Clerk of the District Court so that it wasn't received there until October 28, four days after the 30 day period ended since the appealed Order was dated and filed.

The District Court entered its Order sua sponte raising the timeliness issue of the filing of Appellant's Notice of Appeal (App. 2-3; R 15-16), which was responded to by Appellant (R 17-19) and Appellee (R 21-23).

On January 5, 1988, the First District filed its Opinion on Motion to Dismiss, which dismissed Appellant's appeal and held that where a notice of appeal is not filed with the clerk of the appellate court within 30 days of rendition of the order sought to be reviewed, the notice may

not be treated as a petition for writ of certiorari (App. 4-7; R 24-27). The Court then certified the timeliness question involved, a situation of first impression in this State, to be one of great public importance. Thereafter, on February 1, 1988, Appellant/Petitioner timely filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court. On March 7, this Court consolidated Petitioner Johnson's case with Paul v. City of Miami Beach, 13 F.L.W. 470 (Fla. 3d DCA February 16, 1988).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI. The Constitution, Rules,
 Statute, and case law make it mandatory that the District
 Court of Appeal treat Petitioner Johnson's Notice of Appeal
 as a petition for writ of certiorari.
- THE TIMELY FILING IN AN INAPPROPRIATE COURT IS II. DEEMED A TIMELY FILING IN THE APPROPRIATE COURT. law in this State is clear that Petitioner's Notice of Appeal must be treated as a petition for writ of certiorari, and that Notice was timely filed with the Clerk of the lower light of the constitutional provision and in applicable rule, the place requirement is not controlling in order to vest jurisdiction in a superior court. the Clerk of the lower Court did not timely comply with responsibility to forthwith transmit a copy of his Petitioner's Notice to the District Court of Appeal should District Court refusing jurisdiction. not result in the historically there has not been a strict compliance appellate review, Petitioner's all filings for situation should not be treated differently. The First District Court's strict interpretation of the 30-day filing flies in the face of the clear mandate of rule the liberal policy recognized by the rules Constitution and and case law of this State.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

WHEN A PARTY SEEKS APPELLATE REVIEW OF A NON-APPEALABLE ORDER, AND ASSUMING THAT THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IS TIMELY FILED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL, MUST THE NOTICE OF APPEAL BE FILED IN THE APPELLATE COURT WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RENDITION OF THE ORDER IN ORDER FOR THE APPELLATE COURT TO HAVE JURISDICTION TO TREAT THE NOTICE AS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI?

ARGUMENT

I. A NOTICE OF APPEAL SHOULD BE TREATED AS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI.

The Florida Constitution is the foundation of the appellate review proceedings involved here which have been certified by the First District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance. Article V, § 2(a) provides that:

The supreme court shall adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts including the for seeking appellate review. administration supervision of all courts, the transfer to the court having jurisdiction of any the jurisdiction of another court proceeding when been improvidently invoked, and a requirement shall be dismissed because cause improper has been sought. These rules may remedy general law enacted by two-thirds repealed by vote of the membership of each house of legislature. (e.s.)

Pursuant to this constitutional mandate, the Supreme Court adopted the subject Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, including Rule 9.040, effective at 12:01 a.m., March 1, 1978. In re PROPOSED FLORIDA APPELLATE RULES, 351 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1977). Of particular importance in this proceeding are portions of the stated Rule.

Subsection (b) provides:

(b) Forum. If a proceeding is commenced in an inappropriate court, that court <u>shall</u> transfer the cause to an appropriate court. (e.s.)

Subsection (c) provides:

(c) Remedy. If a party seeks an improper remedy, the cause <u>shall</u> be treated as if the proper remedy had been sought; provided that it shall not be the responsibility of the court to seek the proper remedy. (e.s.)

In reverse order, these two rule requirements shall be discussed.

many years the policy of this State has been liberal in according a party seeking review of a lower tribunal's decision that right even though he improvidently misnames the remedy sought. For more than forty years there statutory basis for this policy with the has enactment of § 59.45, Fla. Stat. In addition, consistently through the years virtually every intermediate appellate court of this State has followed this trend in considering a appeal as a petition for a writ of certiorari, notice of Publishing Company v. U-M Publishing, Inc., Home News 246 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971); In re Wood's Estate, 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959); Schommer v. Bentley, 114 So.2d 40 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Hillsborough County v. 489 So.2d 13 F.L.W. 362 (Fla. 2d DCA February 5, 1988); Marchese, Pavey, 112 So.2d 589 (Fla. 3d DCA 1959); Pavey v. Radio Communications Corporation v. Oki Electronics of

America, Inc., 277 So.2d 289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); Sunshine Dodge, Inc. v. Ketchem, 445 So.2d 395 (Fla. 5th 1984); Hackenberg v. Artesian Pools of East Florida, Inc., 440 So.2d 475 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), as well as this Court, Kilgore v. Bird, 149 Fla. 570, 6 So.2d 541 (1942); State v. Johnson, 306 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1975); State, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983). Likewise, a petition for writ of certiorari may be treated as a notice appeal, Pearce v. Parsons, 414 So.2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), as can a petition for writ of habeas corpus, Garner v. Wainwright, 454 So.2d 28 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Indeed, the rationale of the Supreme Court in some instances indicates that "some method of review" should be made available to an aggrieved person, State ex rel. Scaldeferri v. Sandstrom, 285 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1973), and where the overriding intent appears obvious defects in the form or substance in the review attempt should not defeat appellate jurisdiction absent actual prejudice to opponent. State v. Allen, 196 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1967).

Rule 9.030(b)(2)(B) provides that the certiorari jurisdiction of district courts of appeal may be sought to review final orders of circuit courts acting in their review capacity. Of course, the Order herein of the Circuit Court below was one in which that Court acted in its review capacity. Since Petitioner's Notice of Appeal may be considered a petition for writ of certiorari, and Rule 9.040(c) provides that, "If a party seeks an improper

remedy, the cause shall be treated as if the proper remedy had been sought...," it appears that Petitioner is entitled have his case heard on the merits. Indeed, it appears Rule is mandatory in requiring an appellate court that the to treat a case as if the proper remedy has been sought. Board of County Commissioners of Orange Pridgen v. County, 389 So.2d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), Pet. for rev. den. 397 So.2d 777 (Fla. 1981). And, of course, there can serious guestion but that a district court of appeal may review a decision of the circuit court, sitting in its appellate capacity, which affirms a decision of the county McNamara Pontiac, Inc. v. Sanchez, 388 So.2d 620 court. (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Wakulla Wood Products v. Richey, So.2d 660 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Also, there is authority a district court to review by plenary appeal the merits a final order of the circuit court acting in its review County of Volusia v. Transamerica Business capacity. Corporation, 392 So.2d 585 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Odham v. Petersen, 398 So.2d 875 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

Based upon the above, there is ample authority for the Petitioner's Notice of Appeal to be properly, and mandatorily, considered and treated as a petition for a writ of certiorari; and, in light of Subsection (b) of the Rule, it matters not where it is initially filed. The First District Court of Appeal, in failing to so consider Mr. Johnson's Notice of Appeal, committed error.

II. THE TIMELY FILING IN AN INAPPROPRIATE COURT IS DEEMED A TIMELY FILING IN THE APPROPRIATE COURT.

Subsection (b) of Rule 9.040 also appears to be mandatory:

If a proceeding is commenced in an inappropriate court, that court shall transfer the cause to an appropriate court. (e.s.)

interpret To it otherwise would mean that the the Supreme Court as mandated by the promulgated by Constitution is meaningless and accomplishes nothing. Tascano v. State, 393 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1981). The First District Court did not follow this directive and therefore committed error. Pursuant to the Rule. and constitutional basis, Art. V, § 2(a), it does not seem that the place requirement for filing a notice governs timeliness o.£ jurisdictional pleading which а inappropriately filed with another court. Both the First District in the case sub judice and the Third District in Paul v. City of Miami Beach, 13 F.L.W. 470 (Fla. 3d DCA February 16, 1988), have construed the "place" requirement the Rule in a way that contradicts Article V, § 2(a) of Florida Constitution. The Constitution requires the transfer "to the court having jurisdiction of any proceeding the jurisdiction of another court has when improvidently invoked...." Rule 9.040(b) was adopted by this Court for the express purpose of implementing that constitutional mandate.

The Committee Notes under Rule 9.040 state:

provisions [Sections (b) and (c)] a Under these automatically have his case will not dismissed because he...invokes the jurisdiction of wrong The court must...transfer it to court. court having jurisdiction. All filings in the legal effect the same originally filed in the court to which transfer is made.

PROPOSED FLORIDA APPELLATE RULES, 351 So.2d 981 legal effect of Mr. Johnson's The 989. 1977), at Appeal with the Clerk of the filing a timely Notice of Circuit Court is to invoke the jurisdiction of the First District Court, the reviewing Court. Rule 9.110(b). operation of 9.040(b), the filing of such a notice with the clerk of the circuit court is deemed to have "the same legal effect" as though it, when treated as a petition for writ of certiorari, was originally filed with the district court of allow the clerk to have the power to, appeal. To intentionally or unintentionally, delay the forwarding of that notice for a period of time until the 30 days are past, as was done in the case at bar and in Paul, would dissipate the constitutional mandate and clear requirement the Rule. Here, Petitioner's Notice of Appeal was filed with the Clerk of the Circuit Court on October 21, 1987, but the Clerk did not "forthwith" forward a copy of it to the District Court so that it was not received Clerk of the until October 28, more than 30 days after rendition of the on review on September 24. This transmittal delay by should not affect the jurisdiction of the the clerk reviewing court and thereby deny one the appellate review he

is seeking and guaranteed by the Constitution and Rule.

light of Rule 9.040(h), and decisional law on the general subject of timeliness of filing, it appears that the First and Third District Courts of Appeal have placed too much unwarranted emphasis on the date they received copies Petitioners' Notices of Appeal, especially since those notices were timely filed with the clerk of the lower tribunals. Of course, strict compliance of such filing has not always been adhered to in appellate proceedings in this State. For example, when the last day of filing appellate review falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the strict time for filing is extended in administrative proceedings. Mick v. Florida State Board of Dentistry, 338 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), regular court proceedings, Rubenstein v. Richard Fidlin Corporation, So.2d 89 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), in mechanic's liens cases, Stockslager v. Daly Aluminum Products, Inc., 246 So.2d (Fla. 1971), and Industrial Relations Commission cases, Dade County Planning Department v. Ransing, 158 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1963). In addition, there have been other situations in which the rationale of the First and Third District Courts has not been strictly followed as in the case at bar and in Paul.

As a result of inadvertance or error, this Court has allowed belated direct review of appellate cases.

Hollingshead v. Wainwright, 194 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1967);

Baggett v. Wainwright, 229 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1969);

State v. Meyer, 430 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1983), albeit it in criminal rather than civil cases. Whether criminal or civil should not matter. As the court stated in Meyer, "Holding one party to a standard of practice different from that required of others violates the basic principles of justice on which our legal system is founded." At 443.

This Court also recently applied the doctrine of equitable tolling in the case of Machules v. Department of Administration, 13 F.L.W. 239 (Fla. S.Ct., March 31, 1988). Such doctrine is applicable when a party has in some extraordinary way been prevented from asserting his rights or has timely asserted his rights mistakenly in the wrong forum, as in the cases at bar.

Even though Rule 9.110(b) requires the filing of a notice of appeal to be with the clerk of the lower court, and Art. VIII, § 1(k), Fla. Const., seems to contemplate that the county seat is the location for the filing of such notice of appeal, this Court has held that the timely filing of such a notice in a branch office of the clerk of the county court constitutes timelv filing within the contemplation of the rule. Sanchez v. Swanson, 481 (Fla. 1986). Hoffman v. Hoffman, 485 So.2d So.2d 481 Therefore, it is obvious that there has 1282 (Fla. 1986). been strict compliance with the 30 day filing rule in instances, and the Appellee herein may not successfully all contend that all cases, at all times, must be governed by a strict timetable in order for a court to obtain jurisdiction for review purposes. Because Petitioner did in fact timely file his Notice of Appeal with the Clerk of the Circuit Court, and such notice must be considered as a petition for writ of certiorari, the District Court, in strictly requiring, under the circumstances, the actual filing with its Clerk within the 30 days was error. In doing so, the Court simply chose not to be bound by the clear mandate of the Constitution and the liberal policy recognized by the rules and case law of this State.

The subject order of the Circuit Court below, acting in its appellate capacity, was dated and filed with the Clerk of that Court on September 24, 1987. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed with that Clerk, along with the appropriate filing fees, on October 21. However, the Clerk, for reasons unknown, did not immediately ("forthwith") forward a copy of that Notice to the Clerk of the District Court, but only did it so that it was filed with that Clerk on October 28, one week later. Of course, Appellant had no control over the Clerk's noncompliance with the Rules' requirements.

Subsection (g) requires that upon the filing of a notice [of appeal] the clerk shall <u>forthwith</u> transmit the fee and a certified copy of the Notice to the appellate court. Therefore, pursuant to this Rule, the Clerk of the Circuit Court below should have "forthwith" transmitted a certified copy of the Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal. The Clerk did not do this, which resulted

in the District Court ultimately determining that the Notice was not timely filed with its Clerk.

The Committee Notes under Subsection (g), state, in part, "The clerk must transmit the notice and fees immediately. This requirement replaces the provision of the former rules that the notice be transmitted within five days. The Advisory Committee was of the view that no reason existed for any delays." (e.s.) The violation of the Clerk performing his duty under the Rule should not prejudice Mr. Johnson's right to rely upon the constitutional mandate and rules implementing it.

Rule 9.040(h) provides that the failure of a party or clerk to timely file fees or additional copies of notices or petitions shall not be jurisdictional. However, no mention is made of what happens if the clerk fails to follow the duty as provided in Subsection (g).

In footnote 1 at page 2 of the District Court's Opinion on Motion to Dismiss (App. 19; R 25), it is observed that:

There is no requirement under the appellate rules file a copy of the notice of appeal counsel with the appellate court. In practice, this court served a copy by counsel appellant at the time it is filed below, but where is the case the court will ordinarily not first obtain а copy of the notice when it is forwarded by the clerk of the lower tribunal.

One wonders whether the informal receipt by the District
Court of a copy of Mr. Johnson's Notice of Appeal would have
been sufficient under the First District's reasoning to have

considered Appellant's Notice to have been properly and timely filed with it within the 30 days limitation. The restricted view taken by the First and Third District Courts are not in line with the constitutional mandate and the rules implemented by this Court.

There are two cases of this Court that at first blush appear to be adverse to Petitioner's position in this They are Southeast First National Bank of Miami v. Herin, 357 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1978), and Lampkin-Asam v. District Court of Appeal, 364 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1978). The question in Southeast was whether the failure to file a notice of appeal from a county court judgment in the office the clerk of the circuit and county court in a timely fashion deprives the circuit court of appellate jurisdiction where the notice of appeal was filed in an otherwise timely fashion but in the district court of appeal. The answer was affirmative, with the Court relying on a 20-year-old Supreme Court case and a case of the First District Court of Appeal in 1972. However, the Court did acknowledge that old Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d), now 9.040(b), was designed to permit transfer of cases where an appeal is taken to the wrong appellate court, with the Court stating that:

Where it is determined that the jurisdiction of the wrong court has been invoked, the rule, and the constitution, as amended, provide for such transfer. At 717.

The Lampkin-Asam case was a situation where the

petitioner inadvertently mailed his notice of appeal to the district court of appeal rather than to the circuit court of Dade County. As a result, after being mailed to the circuit outside the it arrived too late, 30 court. jurisdictional time limit. The Third District dismissed the appeal as not being timely filed. Petitioner argued in this Court that old Rule 2.1 was broadened by 9.040(b) so as to protect from dismissal notices which are filed in the wrong court, but the Court rejected this contention.

course, the facts and circumstances in those Ο£ are not exactly the same as in the case sub judice. noted by the First District Court below, no Florida As court has addressed the precise issue presented in appellate at bar (App. 6; R 26). It is submitted that there are sufficient differences between Southeast and Lampkin-Asam and the cases at bar, when compared to the in this Brief, so that this Court may authorities cited rationally either distinguish the cases or have thoughts about those holdings now some ten years later. light of the authorities cited herein, it is suggested that the latter approach be the prevailing one.

Rule 9.040(a) provides that an appellate court shall have such jurisdiction as may be necessary for a complete determination of the cause. The Supreme Court may determine all the issues in the subject litigation without remanding the case back to the District Court. Because it is the policy of this Court to avoid needless litigation and secure

of Ft. Lauderdale, 183 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1966); Zirin v.

Charles Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1961); P. C.

Lissenden Co. v. Board of County Commissioners, 116 So.2d

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