# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

R. S. JOHNSON,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

CITIZENS STATE BANK,

Appellee/Respondent.

case No. 71,877

Case No. 71,877

Case No. 72,007)

LERK, SUPREME COURT

Answer Brief of Respondent

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

> Frank A. Baker, Esq. 204 Market Street Marianna, Florida 32446 (904) 526-3633

Glenda F. Swearingen, Esq. 200-B Market Street Marianna, Florida 32446 (904) 526-4465

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MA
NA. FL 32446

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES:	Page
Hackenberg v. Artesian Pools, Inc., 440 So.2d 475 (Fla. 5DCA 1983)	2,4

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his initial Point I, the Petitioner JOHNSON contends that the First District Court of Appeal committed error in failing to consider his "notice of appeal" as a "petition for writ of certiorari". On the contrary, the District Court assumed <u>arguendo</u> that Fla. App. Rule 9.100 applied and resolved this case on other grounds. As a result, there is no error as to Petitioner's Point I.

As to Petitioners' Point II, it is immaterial whether Petitioners filed the "petition" or a "notice", in order to seek review. Fla. App. Rule 9.040(c). The issue is rather, under Fla. App. Rule 9.100, an applicant for review must comply with the filing requirements of the rule and, if so, whether his failure to do so is jurisdictional. The provisions of "transfer to a court of proper jurisdiction" of Fla. App. Rule 9.040(b) have no application herein, where neither Petitioner sought review in the circuit court. Based on Southeast First National Bank of Miami and Lampkin, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative, affirm the opinions of the District Courts, and discharge the writ of certiorari issued herein.

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MATTORNEY AT LAW
MATTORNEY AT LAW

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT REFUSE TO TREAT THE PETITIONER JOHNSON'S NOTICE OF APPEAL AS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI.

In his initial point, the Petitioner JOHNSON contends that the First District Court of Appeal "committed error" in failing to consider his Notice of Appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari. In raising this argument, Petitioner JOHNSON attempts to make manufacture an issue where one does not exist. In its opinion, the District Court did not refuse to "amend" the Petitioner's Notice to effect original proceedings in certiorari. Accordingly, there is no "error" from which the Petitioner JOHNSON may take exception under his Point I.

The practice of the First District in proceeding to review matters on their merits, rather than on the form of the petition for review, is well-established. See, e.g., Home News Publishing Company v. U-M Publishing, Inc., 246 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1DCA 1971). This practice, long accepted in the various district courts [see Hackenberg v. Artesian Pools, Inc., 440 So.2d at 475 (Fla. 5DCA 1983)], is grounded in constitutional and case law (discussed in detail in Point II herein) and embodied in Florida Appellate Rule 9.040(c).

A cursory reading of the opinion under review will reveal that the First District assumed arguendo, and never

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MATTINA, FL 32446

reached, the issue of whether the "notice" should be deemed a "petition".

Before determining whether the petition, if so construed, demonstrated a preliminary basis for relief, this court sua sponte raised the issue of the timeliness of the petition. The Notice of Appeal was filed with the clerk of the lower tribunal on October 21, 1987, but a copy of the notice was not received by the clerk of this court until October 28, more than 30 days rendition of the order. We noted that Rule 9.100(b), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure requires the petition to be filed "with the clerk of the court deemed to have jurisdiction" and that Rule 9.100(c) requires a petition for writ of certiorari to be filed within thirty days of the date of rendition of the order sought to be reviewed.

R. S. Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 13 F.L.W. 136 (Fla. 1DCA, Case Number 87-159, 4/5/88). The Court's numerous references to the filing and time requirements of Rule 9.100 suggest inescapably that, for the purpose of resolving certified issue, the in Court fact applied certiorari-original proceedings rule. As will be developed below, this Court's determination of the certified issue should likewise depend not on the appeal-certiorari distinction, but rather on the jurisdictional impediment resulting from Petitioner's failure to timely file his request for review with the appropriate clerk.

As to Petitioner JOHNSON'S Point I, therefore, there is no "error" upon which reversal might be based. This Court should instead consider this action based upon the

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MATTERNA. FL 32446

issue as certified by the First and Third District Courts and developed in Point II hereof.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING PETITIONER'S REQUEST FOR REVIEW, WHERE THAT REQUEST WAS NOT TIMELY FILED IN THE APPROPRIATE SITUS.

In their second Points, the Petitioners JOHNSON and PAUL attempt to re-frame the issue certified by the District Courts. As stated by the Courts, the question is:

When a party seeks appellate review of a non-appealable order, and assuming that the notice of appeal is timely filed in the lower tribunal, must the notice of appeal be filed in the appellate court within thirty days of rendition of the order in order for the appellate court to have jurisdiction to treat the notice as a petition for writ of certiorari?

In each of these consolidated cases, the party seeking review labeled his pleading "Notice of Appeal", notwithstanding that no right of appeal lay under Florida Appellate Rule 9.030(b)(1). Under ordinary circumstances, the proceedings would not have been dismissed, but could have been considered under the Court's certiorari authority. See, e.g., Hackenberg, 440 So.2d at 475. Unfortunately, each of these Petitioners failed to timely invoke that certiorari jurisdiction, by not filing his petition for

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
M. INA. FL 32446

review with the respective District Court Clerk within thirty days. Instead, the Petitioners erroneously filed their pleadings to invoke the jurisdiction of the District Court in the Circuit Court. After dismissal the Petitioners now ask that this Court excuse their error by carving an exception to previously-well-established jurisdictional thresholds of the District Court.

Each of the Petitioners relies on Article V Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Appellate Rule 9.040(b) to suggest that Rule 9.100(b) be amended to allow the filing of a petition of a writ of certiorari in an additional location (for example, the tribunal from whose order review is sought). In his analysis, the Petitioner PAUL erroneously argues that this is an instance of the filing of the wrong pleading (a "Notice of Appeal") in the "right court" (the lower tribunal). See PAUL'S Initial Brief at page 17.

is Initially, it important to note that Petitioners have mischaracterized the import of the District Courts' holdings. What Petitioner JOHNSON sees invoking of the jurisdiction of the wrong court (arguably within the purview of Rule 9.040(b) ) is rather an invoking of the jurisdiction of the correct court (the District Court) by the filing of his petition for review in the wrong court (the Circuit Court) [JOHNSON does not (and could not)

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MINA, FL 32446

contend that his "Notice" was actually an attempt to gain review in the Circuit Court]. What Petitioner PAUL views as the "wrong pleading" (a Notice of Appeal) in the "right Court" (the Circuit Court) is instead the "wrong pleading" in the wrong court (the Circuit Court).

In fact, the distinctions raised by PAUL and JOHNSON as to the correctness of their petition for review rendered immaterial by Rule 9.040(c). Under that rule and the constitutional provision that it codifies [Article V Section 2(a), requiring in part that ". . . no cause shall be dismissed because an improper remedy be sought"], it incumbent on the District Courts below to consider the petitions for review, regardless of their denomination as "notices of appeal" or "petitions for writs of certiorari". For that reason, the opinion of the First District herein properly refused to fall prey to the snares of Petitioners' analysis; instead, the Court assumed arquendo that Petitioner JOHNSON'S "notice" be dealt with under Florida Appellate Rule 9.100 (regarding certiorari proceedings). Under the requirements of Rule 9.040(c) and Article V Section 2(a), this approach was both appropriate and required. For the purpose of resolving the certified issue, it is of no legal consequence whether Petitioner's requests for review were "notices" or "petitions". mischaracterizations serve only to divert this Court's

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MATTERNAL FL 32446

attention from the true issue herein, as resolved and certified by the District Court; that is, whether an applicant for original relief under Rule 9.100 must comply with the filing requirements of that rule and, if so, whether his failure to do so is jurisdictional.

As noted by the First District below, the precedent of this Court suggests that both questions be answered yes. In Southeast First National Bank of Miami v. Herin, 357 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1978), this Court held that the failure to timely file a notice of appeal (from a county court judgment to the circuit court) with the clerk of the circuit court deprived the circuit court of jurisdiction. In Southeast First National Bank, Appellant's counsel erroneously sent his Notice of Appeal to the district court clerk. This Court noted Appellant's argument [that Article V Section 2(a) required that the appeal should be allowed as filed, and transferred to the circuit court under Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d)], but nonetheless upheld the dismissal.

Seven months later, the same question was re-presented in the light of then-new Rule 9.040(b) in Lampkin-Asam v. District Court of Appeal, 364 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1978), with an identical result. Petitioner therein suggested that the 1977 revision of Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d) in Rule 9.040(b) required a departure from Southeast First National Bank. As in Southeast First National Bank, Appellant's counsel sought to

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MITTINA. FL 32446

invoke the appellate powers of the circuit court by mailing his notice to the district court clerk. In reaffirming Southeast First National Bank and its predecessors, this Court expressly distinguished between an improper filing and an attempt to invoke the jurisdiction of the wrong appellate court:

The reasoning of the late Mr. Justice Drew in Southeast First National Bank, supra, ably demonstrates why Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) is inapplicable to this case:

"This rule was designed to permit the transfer of cases where the appeal is taken to the wrong appellate court. For instance, where an appeal in a bond validation proceeding is taken to the District Court of Appeal instead of to the Supreme Court, or where an appeal in a case where the death penalty has been imposed is taken to the District Court instead of the Supreme Court, or where an appeal in which life in prison has been imposed is taken to this Court instead of District Court. There are also instances jurisdiction depends on whether the trial court validity directly passed on the constitutionality of a statute. Where it determined that the jurisdiction of the wrong court has been invoked, the Rule, and the Constitution, as amended, provide for such transfer.

Lampkin, 364 So.2d at 470, quoting from approval from Southeast First National Bank, 357 So.2d at 717-718. This rejected contention is identical to that relied on by the Petitioners herein (see pages 8-9 of JOHNSON'S Initial Brief, and page 9 of PAUL'S Initial Brief). The Petitioners here did not erroneously seek circuit court review by their filing of a pleading in that court; each should candidly

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MATTHEWAY
INA. FL 32446

admit that he sought relief from his district court. As in <a href="Lampkin">Lampkin</a>, there is no mistaken impression that the circuit court might actually be empowered to reconsider; rather, there was only the erroneous conclusion that the avenue to further review (by the district court) required the filing of a petition or notice in the circuit court.

Furthermore, as noted by Justice Sundberg (in Lampkin at 936) and by the 1977 Revision Committee Notes, the former Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d) was amended in Florida Appellate Rule 9.040(b) to deal specifically with the holdings in Nellen v. State, 226 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1DCA 1969), and Engel v. City of North Miami, 115 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959).

It is argued Rule 2.1 was broadened in the new rules so as to protect from dismissal notices which are filed in the wrong court. We cannot agree with this contention. Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) in no way altered the meaning or effect of Rule 2.1a(5)(d) or the cases construing it except as stated in the committee notes with respect to the results reached in Nellen v. State, 226 So. 2d at 354 (Fla. 1DCA 1969), and Engel v. City of North Miami, 115 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959), which have no application here.

Lampkin, 364 So. 2d at 936. In Engel, this Court had declined to sanction the now-accepted practice of treating a petition for certiorari as a notice of appeal. In Nellen, the First District Court of Appeal dismissed a request for review of a county court order, rather than transferring the action to the circuit court. It is clear from that context

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
Marketina, FL 32446

that neither Nellen nor Engle would have had application to the certified question at bar. In this case, neither of the Petitioners sought to invoke the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court; each clearly sought review only by his respective district court. Consequently, the concept of transfer to a Court of proper jurisdiction (which was the solution refused in Nellen and modified by Rule 9.040(b) ) is not applicable herein. Similarly, the rationale of Engle (that a petition for a writ of certiorari may not be a vehicle for appeal), superseded by Rule 9.040(c), is inapposite in this case; the First District Court of Appeal in fact treated Petitioner's "notice" as a "petition", but resolved the motion to dismiss on wholely-different grounds. Nellen, Engle, or the Committee Notes to the revised rule speak to the issue in this case, whether a litigant may attempt to invoke the certiorari jurisdiction of a court by filing his initial pleading in another court. A reading the entire Committee Notes, rather than the isolated portions quoted by Petitioners, bears out this conclusion (". . . . under this rule, a petition for writ of certiorari should be treated as a notice of appeal, if timely") (emphasis supplied).

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MINA, FL 32446

Properly framed, the certified issue is not controlled by Rule 9.040(b) or (c), or affected by changes to the prior holdings of Engel and Nessen. Instead, there is simply the matter of whether Rule 9.100(b) should be revised to allow the filing of a petition with, not only "the clerk of the court deemed to have jurisdiction", but also with any other clerk of any other court. The holdings of <a href="Lampkin">Lampkin</a> and <a href="Southeast First National Bank">Southeast First National Bank</a>, as well as sound policy, militate against such revision.

The filing requirement provide more than the "notice" function emphasized by Petitioner PAUL (at page 11 of his Initial Brief). In addition, it is the landmark from which the Court's exercise of authority is launched. In the absence of a jurisdictional foundation for that exercise of authority, a court has no power to act. State ex rel. Diamond Insurance Agency v. Carroll, 102 So. 2d 129, at (Fla. 1958). Were a contrary result possible, parties might well seek Supreme Court review of a district court opinion by the filing of a "notice" with the Clerk of a circuit court. The creation of the exception requested by the Petitioners herein might well open a Pandora's box of mis-filings, misnomers, and necessitated transfers.

Petitioner PAUL rightly recognizes the inherent unfairness of the strict jurisdictional rule. Nothwithstanding, the sound policy, requiring precise limitations on the "window of entry" to certiorari review overrides potential concerns of inequity in individual cases. If a different rule applied, there would be little

FRANK A. BAKER, P.A. ATTORNEY AT LAW Manual Na. FL 32446 definition to the power of a particular reviewing court to act.

Despite what might appear to be the imposition of a hardship, we are compelled to conclude under applicable rules the timely filing of a Notice of Appeal at the place required by the rules is essential to confer jurisdiction on the Appellate Court. We have on numerous occasions held in similar situations that jurisdiction could not even be conferred by consent of the parties, when the notice of appeal was not filed as required by applicable rules.

\* \* \*

A court has no power to act in the absence of a jurisdictional foundation for the exercise of the power. The timely and proper filing of a Notice of Appeal is a jurisdictional essential to enable an appellate court to exercise its power.

Southeast First National Bank, 357 So.2d at 718.

The Respondent Citizens State Bank respectfully requests that this Court adhere to the precedent announced in Lampkin, Southeast First National Bank, and Diamond Berk, answer the certified question in the affirmative, and discharge the writ of certiorari.

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